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)

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW


On January 14, 2002, the Missouri Real Estate Commission (MREC) filed a complaint alleging that there is cause to discipline Michael P. Stockdale’s real estate license for violating a rule or statute, his guilty plea to mail fraud and misuse of a social security, and other untrustworthy conduct, and because his conduct would be cause to refuse to issue him a license.


On June 13, 2002, we held a hearing on the complaint.  Assistant Attorney General Ethan B. Corlija represented the MREC.  Although he was notified of the time and place of the hearing, neither Stockdale nor anyone representing him appeared.  The matter became ready for our decision on June 17, 2002, the date the transcript was filed.

Findings of Fact

1. Stockdale holds a real estate sales license, No. SP2000157276.  This license was placed on inactive status on January 30, 2001, and will expire on or about September 30, 2002.

2. Beginning on or about April 27, 1996, Stockdale opened an account at Mailboxes, Etc., to receive mail at 12685 Dorsett Rd., Box 194, Maryland Heights, Missouri, addressed to Mike Stockdale, Mike Nelson, and Wholesale Communications.

3. On or about January 24, 1997, Stockdale registered Wholesale Communications as a fictitious business name doing business in the State of Missouri and owned by Mike and Stephanie Stockdale.  Stockdale later added the names John Roberts, Bob Blanc, IC&C, and International Computers to the Dorsett Road addressee list.

4. On or about March 29, 1999, Stockdale opened an account at Mailboxes, Etc., to receive mail addressed to Mike Stockdale, Stephanie Stockdale, Legalcomm, and Wholesale Communications at 7127 Mexico Rd., Box 258, St. Peters, Missouri, and provided his home address as 3760 Market St., NE, #103, Salem, Oregon, when this was not his correct home address.

5. In 1999, Stockdale opened a check cashing account at Quick Cash and falsely represented his social security number (SSN).

6. In July 1999, Stockdale, using the name Rick Snyder, sent e-mail messages to e-mail addresses advertising for sale an unlimited usage cellular telephone at a rate of $99.95 per month.  Using both the names Snyder and Bob Blanc, Stockdale made many representations by e-mail and telephone that were not true.  Stockdale also subscribed to a free e-mail address and used it for communications under the name Jon Roberts.

7. In or about August 1999, Stockdale began receiving cashier’s checks payable to Wholesale Communications at the Dorsett Road, Box 194, mailbox from people who were interested in purchasing the cell phone or purchasing local, state and regional distributorship rights.

8. Stockdale cashed the checks at Quick Cash and used the funds for personal purposes.

9. On or about August 25, 1999, and November 12, 1999, Stockdale, using the name Bob Blanc, held conference calls with potential investors in which he falsely represented facts about the cell phones.

10. In late October and early November 1999, Stockdale leased approximately 90 cellular telephones in the name of IC&C and Jon Roberts from AT&T in St. Peters, Missouri on a $149.95 per month, limited usage rate plan, and then sent the phones to Wholesale Communications customers and investors.

11. On or about October 28, 1999, Stockdale opened a checking account in the name of Wholesale Communications at Equality Savings Bank in St. Peters, Missouri, giving a false social security number.

12. Between October 28, 1999, and November 14, 1999, Stockdale deposited into the Wholesale Communications account at Equality Savings approximately $276,000 worth of cashier’s and other checks he had received from purchases and investors in the cell phones.

13. On or about October 30, 1999, Stockdale established an off-shore account under the name MST Associates in Belize for the purpose of wire transferring the money there.

14. On or about November 24, 1999, Stockdale incorporated IC&C under the laws of the Bahamas and appointed himself Director.

15. On or about December 28, 1999, the Wholesale Communications account at Equality Savings Bank was closed, and Stockdale withdrew the total balance of $178,798.86.

16. Stockdale executed a scheme to defraud customers when he caused people to send him money, and he falsely represented that particular social security numbers were his numbers when they were not.

17. On June 8, 2000, Stockdale
 was indicted and charged by a grand jury in the United States Eastern District Court with four counts of mail fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. section 1341, and three counts of misuse of a social security number in violation of 18 U.S.C. section 408(a)(7)(B).  Case No. 4:00CR273JCH.

18. On July 30, 2001, Stockdale pleaded guilty to the following counts charged in the indictment:  Counts I, II, III, and IV – mail fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. section 1341; and Counts V and VI – misuse of a social security number in violation of 42 U.S.C. section 408(a)(7)(B).  Count VII was dismissed.

19. Stockdale was sentenced to 12 months imprisonment and ordered to be placed on supervised release for three years.  He was ordered to pay restitution of $296,962.80.

20. The terms of Stockdale’s supervised release include:  (1) the defendant shall pay the restitution as previously ordered by the Court; (2) the defendant shall refrain from any unlawful use of a controlled substances and submit to a drug test within 15 days of commencement of supervised release and at least two periodic drug tests thereafter for use of a controlled substance; (3) the defendant shall provide to the probation officer access to any requested financial information; (4) the defendant shall be prohibited from incurring new credit charges or opening additional lines of credit without the approval of the probation office, so long as there is a balance on the restitution amount imposed; (5) the defendant shall be prohibited from accessing the Internet; and (6) the defendant shall be prohibited from using a postal box or address other than his home address for the purpose of receiving any form of mail or packages.

Conclusions of Law 


We have jurisdiction to hear the MREC’s complaint.  Section 339.100.2
 and 621.045.1.  The MREC has the burden of proving that Stockdale has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.  Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).


The MREC argues that there is cause to discipline Stockdale’s license under section 339.100.2, which states:


2.  The commission may cause a complaint to be filed with the administrative hearing commission as provided by law when the commission believes there is a probability that a licensee has performed or attempted to perform any of the following acts:

*   *   *


(14) Violation of, or attempting to violate, directly or indirectly, or assisting or enabling any person to violate, any provision of sections 339.010 to 339.180, or of any lawful rule adopted pursuant to sections 339.010 to 339.180;


(15) Committing any act which would otherwise be grounds for the commission to refuse to issue a license under section 339.040;

*   *   *


(17) Been finally adjudicated and found guilty, or entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, in a criminal prosecution under the laws of this state or any other state or of the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated under this chapter, for any offense an essential element of which is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed;


(18) Any other conduct which constitutes untrustworthy, improper or fraudulent business dealings, or demonstrates bad faith or gross incompetence[.]


Stockdale pleaded guilty to offenses in violation of the following:

18 U.S.C. section 1341, which states:

Whoever, having devised or intending to devise any scheme or artifice to defraud, or for obtaining money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises, or to sell, dispose of, loan, exchange, alter, give away, distribute, supply, or furnish or procure for unlawful use any counterfeit or spurious coin, obligation, security, or other article, or anything represented to be or intimated or held out to be such counterfeit or spurious article, for the purpose of executing such scheme or artifice or attempting so to do, places in  any post office or authorized depository for mail matter, any matter or thing whatever to be sent or delivered by the Postal Service, or deposits or causes to be deposited any matter or thing whatever to be sent or delivered by any private or commercial interstate carrier, or takes or receives therefrom, any such matter or thing, or knowingly causes to be delivered by mail or such carrier according to the direction thereon, or at the place at which it is directed to be delivered by the person to whom it is addressed, any such matter or thing, shall be fined under this tile or imprisoned not more than five years, or both.  If the violation affects a financial institution, such person shall not be fined more than $1,000,000 or imprisoned not more than 30 years, or both.

and 42 U.S.C. section 408(a)(7)(B), which states:

(a) In general

Whoever –

*   *   *

(7) For the purpose of causing an increase in any payment authorized under this subchapter (or any other program financed in whole or in part from Federal funds), or for the purpose of causing a payment under this subchapter (or any other such program) to be made when no payment is authorized thereunder, or for the purpose of obtaining (for himself or any other person) any payment or any other benefit to which he (or such other person) is not entitled, or for the purpose of obtaining anything of value from any person, or for any other purposes –

*   *   *

(B) with intent to deceive, falsely represents a number to be the social security account number assigned by the Commissioner of Social Security to him or to another person, when in fact 

such number is not the social security account number assigned by the Commissioner of Social Security to him or to such other person[.]


Stockdale’s guilty plea is evidence of the conduct charged.  Mandacina v. Liquor Control Bd. of Review, 599 S.W.2d 240, 243 (Mo. App., W.D. 1980).  His plea constitutes a declaration against interest, which may be explained away.  Nichols v. Blake, 418 S.W.2d 188, 190 (Mo. 1967).  Stockdale has filed no response in this case, and did not appear or provide for anyone to appear on his behalf at the hearing.  Our Findings of Fact reflect that we have accepted the evidence that Stockdale committed the underlying conduct (Stockdale’s scheme to take money from others under false pretenses and to provide false SSNs) that was the basis for the guilty plea.


The MREC also cites the request for admissions that it served on Stockdale.  Under Supreme Court Rule 59.01, the failure to answer a request for admissions establishes the matters in the request conclusively.  The party making the request is entitled to rely upon the facts asserted in the request, and no further proof is required.  Killian Constr. Co. v. Tri-City Constr. Co., 693 S.W.2d 819, 827 (Mo. App., W.D. 1985).  Such a deemed admission can establish any fact or any application of law to fact.  Linde v. Kilbourne, 543 S.W.2d 543, 545-46 (Mo. App., W.D. 1976).  That rule applies to all parties, including those acting pro se.  Research Hosp. v. Williams, 651 S.W.2d 667, 669 (Mo. App., W.D. 1983).

Subdivision (14) - Violation of Law or Rule


The MREC argues that Stockdale’s license is subject to discipline for violating a law or rule because his conduct and guilty plea violate section 339.040, which states:


1.  Licenses shall be granted only to persons who present, and corporations, associations or partnerships whose officers, associates, or partners present, satisfactory proof to the commission that they:


(1) Are persons of good moral character; and


(2) Bear a good reputation for honesty, integrity, and fair dealing; and


(3) Are competent to transact the business of a broker or salesperson in such a manner as to safeguard the interest of the public.

However, this is a statement of requirements for licensure, not a statute whose provisions could be violated.  This statute will be used in determining whether Stockdale’s license is subject to discipline under subdivision (15), not subdivision (14).


The MREC also argues that his license is subject to discipline under subdivision (14) for violating section 339.100.2(17).  As this Commission stated in Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Maloney, No. 91-0773 RE (Mo. Admin. Hearing Comm’n December 17, 1991) at 9:

Under MREC’s view of § 339.100.2(14), every licensee who was subject to discipline under any subsection[
] of § 339.100.2 would also be subject to discipline under subsection (14), so long as the conduct was either repeated or willful.  We do not believe that that was the legislature’s intent in enacting it.  The legislature enacted that provision in order to authorize MREC to discipline conduct which was not otherwise subject to discipline:  violations of MREC’s regulations and violations of duties and prohibitions found in Chapter 339.


We do not find cause to discipline Stockdale’s license under 339.100.2(14).

Subdivision (15) - Cause to Refuse to Issue License


The MREC argues that Stockdale’s conduct and guilty plea constitute grounds to discipline his license under subdivision (15) because they would be reason to refuse to grant him a license.  As quoted above, section 339.040 requires a person to be of good moral character; bear a good reputation for honesty, integrity, and fair dealing; and be competent to transact business in a manner to safeguard the public.  Good moral character is honesty, fairness, and 

respect for the law and the rights of others.  State ex rel. McAvoy v. Louisiana St. Bd. of Med. Examiners, 115 So.2d 833, 839 n.2 (La. 1959); Florida Bd of Bar Examiners Re:  G.W.L., 364 So.2d 454, 458 (Fla. 1978).


Stockdale made false representations in order to induce people to send him money based on those false representations.  He concocted an elaborate scheme to get this money and then to hide it.  As part of this scheme, he gave false SSNs to financial institutions.  He pleaded guilty to four counts of mail fraud and two counts of misuse of a social security number.  The MREC has proven that Stockdale lacks good moral character, does not bear a good reputation for honesty, integrity and fair dealing, and is not competent to transact business in a manner to safeguard the public.


We find cause to discipline Stockdale’s license under section 339.100.2(15).

Subdivision (17) - Guilty Plea


The MREC argues that Stockdale’s license is subject to discipline because he pleaded guilty to a crime 1) reasonably related to his profession, 2) an essential element of which is fraud or dishonesty, and 3) involving moral turpitude.


An essential element is one that must be proved for a conviction in every case.  State ex rel. Atkins v. Missouri Bd. of Accountancy, 351 S.W.2d 483, 485 (Mo. App., K.C.D. 1961).  Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another to rely on it.  Sofka v. Thal, 662 S.W.2d 502, 506 (Mo. banc 1983); State ex rel. Williams v. Purl, 128 S.W. 196, 201 (Mo. 1910).  It necessarily includes dishonesty, which is a lack of integrity or a disposition to defraud or deceive.  MERRIAM-WEBSTER'S COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY 333 (10th ed. 1993).  Moral turpitude is:

an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty 

between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”

In re Frick, 694 S.W.2d 473, 479 (Mo. banc 1985) (quoting In re Wallace, 19 S.W. 2d 625 (Mo. banc 1929)).  Mail fraud is a crime involving moral turpitude.  Neibling v. Terry, 177 S.W.2d 502, 503 (Mo. banc 1944).


Mail fraud and misuse of a social security number are offenses that are reasonably related to the qualifications of a real estate salesperson, in that such person must be of good moral character.  We find cause to discipline Stockdale’s license under section 339.100.2(17).

Subdivision (18) - Other Conduct


The MREC argues that Stockdale’s conduct and guilty plea are cause to discipline his license under subdivision (18) as “any other conduct which constitutes untrustworthy, improper or fraudulent business dealings, or demonstrates bad faith or gross incompetence[.]”  Subdivision (18) encompasses conduct outside the scope of subdivisions (1) through (17) whether or not the conduct is associated with the real estate business.  Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. McCormick, 778 S.W.2d 303, 306-308 (Mo. App., S.D. 1989).


We have found that Stockdale’s license is subject to discipline under subdivisions (15) and (17) for his conduct and guilty plea.  Thus, these do not constitute “other conduct” that would subject a license to discipline under subdivision (18).

Summary


We find cause to discipline Stockdale’s license under section 339.100.2(15) and (17).  We do not find cause to discipline his license under section 339.100.2(14) or (18).


SO ORDERED on July 10, 2002.



________________________________



KAREN A. WINN



Commissioner

	�Stockdale’s aliases were listed as Rick Snyder, Bob Blanc, Susan Grogert, Mike Stockdale, and Jonathon Roberts.  (Pet’r Ex. 2.)


	�Statutory references, unless otherwise noted, are to the 2000 Revised Statutes of Missouri.


	�This decision refers to (14) as a subsection.
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